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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 
In accordance with a resolution of the board of directors, the directors herewith submit the statement 
of financial position of RB Patel Group Limited (the Company) as at 30 June 2024, the related statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended and report as follows: 
 
Directors 

 
The names of the directors in office at the date of this report are: 
 
 Kamal Haer Tevita Tuiloa  

Surendra Kumar Patel                                          Sereana Matakibau 
 Kavin J Rathod Craig W Strong    
  
Principal Activities 
 
The principal activities of the Company during the year were that of retailing and wholesaling of general 
merchandise and owners and administrators of properties. The Company operates twelve supermarket 
stores throughout the country. 
 
There were no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year. 
 
Results 
 
The results for the year are as follows: 
 
  2024 2023 
    
Profit from operations $ 18,170,263 15,662,648 
    

Finance income  73,874 83,759 
Finance costs  (1,597,944) (1,315,828) 
    
Profit before income tax and adjustment to deferred tax  16,646,193 14,430,579 
    
Income tax expense for the year at 25% (2023: 10%)  (4,155,498) (925,317) 
    
Profit after income tax but before adjustment to deferred 
tax 

   
12,490,695 13,505,262 

  
Adjustment to deferred tax due to change in future income 
tax rate from 10% to 25% 

 
- (5,802,793) 

    
Profit for the year  12,490,695 7,702,469 
 
Dividends 
 
During the year, the Company declared and paid dividends of $10,500,000 (2023: $7,050,000). 
 
Basis of Accounting - Going Concern 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The directors consider the 
application of the going concern principle to be appropriate in the preparation of the financial 
statements as they believe with the plans and strategies put in place by the Company together with 
the ongoing support of the shareholders and lenders, the Company will generate and maintain 
required funding for its operations and meet its liabilities and commitments as and when they fall 
due over the next twelve months. Accordingly, directors believe that the classification and carrying 
amounts of the assets and liabilities as stated in the financial statements to be appropriate. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT [CONT’D] 
 
Bad Debts and Allowance for Impairment Loss 
 
Prior to the completion of the Company’s financial statements, the directors took reasonable steps 
to ascertain that action has been taken in relation to writing off of bad debts and the making of 
allowance for impairment loss. In the opinion of directors, adequate allowance has been made for 
impairment loss. 
 
As at the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances, which would render 
the amount written off for bad debts, or the allowance for impairment loss in the Company, 
inadequate to any substantial extent. 
 
Current and Non-Current Assets 
 
Prior to the completion of the financial statements of the Company, the directors took reasonable 
steps to ascertain whether any current and non-current assets were unlikely to realise in the ordinary 
course of business their values as shown in the accounting records of the Company. Where necessary, 
these assets have been written down or adequate allowance has been made to bring the values of 
such assets to an amount that they might be expected to realise.  
 
As at the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances, which would render 
the values attributed to current and non-current assets in the Company's financial statements 
misleading. 
 
Unusual Transactions 
 
In the opinion of the directors, the results of the operations of the Company during the financial year 
were not substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material unusual nature, nor 
has there arisen between the end of the financial year and the date of this report, any item, 
transaction or event of a material unusual nature, likely in the opinion of the directors, to affect 
substantially the results of the operations of the Company in the current financial year. 
 
Significant Events During the Year 
 
In accordance with Income Tax (Rates of Tax and Levies) (Amendment) Regulations 2023, 
commencing from financial year ended 30 June 2024 (tax year 2023), the Company is subject to 
corporate tax at the rate of 25%. Accordingly, the previous corporate income tax rate of 10% has 
increased to 25% from the financial year ended 30 June 2024 (tax year 2023). 
 
Events Subsequent to Balance Date  
 
No matters or circumstance have arisen since the end of the financial year which would require 
adjustment to, or disclosure in, the financial statements. 
 
Other Circumstances 
 
As at the date of this report: 
 
(i) no charge on the assets of the Company has been given since the end of the financial year to 

secure the liabilities of any other person; 
 
(ii) no contingent liabilities have arisen since the end of the financial year for which the Company 

could become liable; and 
 
(iii) no contingent liabilities or other liabilities of the Company has become or is likely to become 

enforceable within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the 
opinion of the directors, will or may substantially affect the ability of the Company to meet its 
obligations as and when they fall due. 
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DIRECTORS' REPORT [CONT'D] 

Other Circumstances (cont'd) 
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As at the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances that have arisen, not 
otherwise dealt with in this report or the Company's financial statements, which would make 
adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Company misleading or 
inappropriate. 

Directors' Benefits 

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive 
a benefit (other than those disclosed in the financial statements as emoluments, fees and incentives) 
by reason of a contract made by the Company or by a related corporation with the director or with 
a firm of which he/ she is a member, or with a company in which he/ she has a substantial financial 
interest. 

For and on behalf of the board and in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 

Dated this ______  day of August 2024. 

A:.-.>:? ....
Director 

--�·-·--·········· 
Director 

30
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DIRECTORS' DECLARATION 

The declaration by directors is required by the Companies Act, 2015. 

The directors of the Company have made a resolution that declares: 

Page 5 

a) In the opinion of the directors, the financial statements of the Company for the financial year
ended 30 June 2024:

i. comply with the International Financial Reporting Standards and give a true and fair view 
of the financial position of the Company as at 30 June 2024 and of the performance and 
cash flows of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2024; and 

ii. have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act, 2015;

b) The directors have received independence declaration by auditors as required by Section 395
of the Companies Act, 2015; and

c) At the date of this declaration, in the opinion of the directors, there are reasonable grounds
to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and
payable.

For and on behalf of the board and in accordance with a resolution of the board of directors. 

Dated this _____  day of August 2024. 

C S!::.:.2-.................... .
Director 

.. ....... � ...................... . 
Director 

30
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Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under  

Section 395 of the Companies Act 2015 
 

To the Directors of RB Patel Group Limited  

I declare that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit of RB Patel Group 
Limited for the financial year ended 30 June 2024, there have been: 

i. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Companies Act 
2015 in relation to the audit; and 

ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

KPMG Mohammed Khan  
Partner 

 Suva, Fiji 
30 August, 2024 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the shareholders of RB Patel Group Limited  

Report on the audit of the Financial Report 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the Financial Report of 
RB Patel Group Limited (the Company).  

In our opinion, the accompanying Financial 
Report of the Company is in accordance 
with the Companies Act 2015, including:  

• giving a true and fair view of the 
Company’s financial position as at 30 
June 2024 and of its financial 
performance for the year ended on that 
date; and 

• complying with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. 

The Financial Report of the Company comprise:  

• Statement of financial position as at 30 June 
2024; 

• Statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, Statement of changes 
in equity, and Statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended; and 

• Notes including a summary of material 
accounting policies. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities 
for the audit of the Financial Report section of our report.  

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements of the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), together with the 
Companies Act 2015 and the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the Financial 
Report in Fiji. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements.  

We confirm that we have remained independent as required by the Code throughout the period of 
our audit and to the date of this Auditor’s Report.  

Key Audit Matters 

Key Audit Matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most 
significance in our audit of the Financial Report of the current period. 

This matter was addressed in the context of our audit of the Financial Report as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on this matter. 
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Revenue ($176,914,522) 

Refer to Note 3(q) to the Financial Report 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

Retail and wholesale general merchandise 
revenue was a key audit matter due to the:  

 significance of revenue to the financial 
performance of the Company; 

 significant audit effort to test the high 
volume of individual revenue 
transactions.  

In assessing this key audit matter, we 
involved senior team members who 
understand the Company’s industry and 
economic environment it operates in. 

Our procedures included: 

 evaluating the appropriateness of the 
Company's accounting policies for revenue 
recognition for each significant revenue 
stream against the requirements of the 
accounting standards. 

 checking the amount of retail general 
merchandise revenue recorded during the 
year to the amount of cash receipts from 
customers obtained from the Company’s 
bank statements after adjusting for: 

o cash receipts relating to export and 
wholesale general merchandise 
revenue for the year; 

o trade receivables relating to export and 
wholesale general merchandise 
revenue receipted during the year; 

o taxes collected on behalf of third 
parties during the year;  

o credit notes issued during the year; 

o cash receipts not lodged with the 
banks as at 30 June 2023 and 2024. 

 for a sample of wholesale general 
merchandise revenue transactions during 
the year, checking the amount of revenue 
recorded during the year to the quantity 
delivered per the customer signed delivery 
dockets and amount of cash receipts from 
the customer to the Company’s bank 
statements;  

 for a sample of wholesale general 
merchandise revenue transactions from one 
month before and one month after year end, 
checking the date revenue was recognised 
to the date the performance obligation was 
satisfied, by inspecting customer signed 
delivery dockets.  

 assessing the disclosures in the financial 
report using our understanding obtained 
from our testing and against the 
requirements of the accounting standards. 
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Other Information 

Other information is financial and non-financial information in RB Patel Group Limited’s annual 
report and directors’ report which is provided in addition to the Financial Report and the Auditor’s 
Report. The Directors are responsible for the Other Information.  

The Other Information we obtained prior to the date of this Auditor’s Report was the directors 
report. The Chairman’s Review, Corporate Governance Statement, Additional Information – SPX 
Listings Rules Information and Five Year Graphical Review are expected to be made available to us 
after the date of the Auditor's Report. 

Our opinion on the Financial Report does not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, we do 
not and will not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the Financial Report, our responsibility is to read the Other 
Information. In doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with 
the Financial Report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other 
Information. When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement therein of this Other Information, we are required to communicate that fact. Based 
on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we obtained prior to the date of 
this Auditor’s Report we have nothing to report in relation to the directors’ report. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The Directors are responsible for: 

• preparing the Financial Report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies Act 2015;

• implementing necessary internal control to enable the preparation of the Financial Report that 
gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error; and

• assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and whether the use of the 
going concern basis of accounting is appropriate. This includes disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they 
either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative 
but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report 

Our objective is: 

• to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Report as a whole is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and

• to issue an Auditor’s Report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of the Financial Report. 

As part of the audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
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• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Financial Report, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal controls. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Director’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the Financial Report or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Financial Report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the Financial Report represents the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during the audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audits of the Financial Report of the current period 
and are therefore the Key Audit Matters. We describe these matters in our report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits 
of such communication. 
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and 
belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit. 

In our opinion: 

• proper books of account have been kept by the Company, sufficient to enable financial 
statements to be prepared, so far as it appears from our examination of those books; and 

• to the best of our knowledge and according to the information and explanations given to us 
the financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act 2015, in the 
manner so required. 

 

 

KPMG Mohammed Khan  
Partner 

 Suva, Fiji 

30 August, 2024 
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 
 
 

 Note  2024 2023 
     

Revenue  $ 176,914,522 165,444,612 
Cost of sales   (140,368,854) (130,718,702) 
Gross profit   36,545,668 34,725,910 
     
Other income 6  7,479,557 4,598,641 
     
   44,025,225 39,324,551 
     
Operating expenses   (25,273,272) (23,145,863) 
Impairment (recognised)/reversed on trade and other 
receivables   (58,000) 203,868 

Selling and marketing expenses   (523,690) (719,908) 
     

Operating profit   18,170,263 15,662,648 
     
Finance income 7(a)  73,874 83,759 
Finance costs 7(b)  (1,597,944) (1,315,828) 
     
Net finance costs   (1,524,070) (1,232,069) 
     
Profit before income tax and adjustment to 
deferred tax 8  16,646,193 14,430,579 

     
Income tax expense for the year at 25% (2023: 10%)1  9(a)  (4,155,498) (925,317) 
     

Profit after income tax but before adjustment to 
deferred tax   12,490,695 13,505,262 
     

Adjustment to deferred tax due to change in future 
income tax rate from 10% to 25%1 9(a)  - (5,802,793) 
     

Profit for the year    12,490,695 7,702,469 
     
Other comprehensive income, net of tax   - - 
     
Total comprehensive income for the year   $ 12,490,695 7,702,469 
     
Earnings per share     
Basic & diluted earnings per share 22  8.3 cents 5.1 cents 
 
     

1 These comprise total tax expense of $4,155,498 (2023: $6,728,110) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction 
with the accompanying notes. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2024 

Note 2024 2023 
CURRENT ASSETS 
Cash on hand and at bank s 448,956 1,1TT,768 
Trade and other receivables 10(a) 1,342,033 1,158,000 
Inventories 11 17,016,629 18,083,790 
Other investments 12(a) 883,628 829,459 
Other assets 10(c) 840,729 1,185,425 
Loans and advances 10(b) 151 !874 205,187 

Total current assets 2016831849 221639,629 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
Property, plant and equipment 13 24,839,870 23,904,491 
Investment properties 14 73,830,822 59,350,005 
Right-of-use asset 15 7,052,686 5,443,189 
Loans and advances 10(b) 3241003 110561319 

Total non-current assets 10610471381 891754,004 

TOTAL ASSETS 12617311230 1121393,633 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Trade and other payables 16 14,446,821 14,076,849 
Lease liability 15 1,269,793 886,590 
Interest bearing borrowings 17 8,886,858 5,639,455 
Current tax liability 9(b) 1,953,464 530,803 
Provisions 18 62,670 1041494 

Total current liabilities 261619,606 21,238,191 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Interest bearing borrowings 17 19,418,606 14,224,360 
Lease liability 15 6,171,301 4,909,717 
Deposits 19 470,583 460,687 
Deferred tax liabilities 9(c) 92818,117 9,318,356 

Total non-current liabilities 351878,607 28,913,120 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 62,498,213 501151 ,311 

NET ASSETS 641233,017 621242,322 

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Share capital 20 15,000,000 15,000,000 
Retained earnings 49,233,017 47,242,322 

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY s 64,233,017 6212421322 

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes. 

For and on behalf of the board and in accordance with a resolution of the board of directors. 

Director 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 
  

 
 

Share  
Capital 

Investment 
Revaluation 

Reserve 
Retained  
Earnings Total 

 ($) ($) ($) ($) 
 
Balance at 1 July 2022 15,000,000 51,230 46,538,623 61,589,853 
     
Total comprehensive income     
Profit  - - 7,702,469 7,702,469 
Other comprehensive income  - - - - 
Total comprehensive income - - 7,702,469 7,702,469 
     
Disposal of equity investment - (51,230) 51,230 - 
     
Transactions with owners of the 
Company 

    

Contributions and distributions     
Dividends (note 21) - - (7,050,000) (7,050,000) 
Total contributions and 
distributions 

- -  
(7,050,000) 

 
(7,050,000) 

Total transactions with owners 
of the Company - - (7,050,000) (7,050,000) 

     
Balance at 30 June 2023 15,000,000 - 47,242,322 62,242,322 
     
Total comprehensive income 
Profit  - - 12,490,695 12,490,695 
Other comprehensive income - - - - 
Total comprehensive income - - 12,490,695 12,490,695 
     
Transactions with owners of the 
Company 

    

Contributions and distributions     
Dividends (note 21) - - (10,500,000) (10,500,000) 
Total contributions and 
distributions - - (10,500,000) (10,500,000) 

Total transactions with owners 
of the Company - 

 
- (10,500,000) (10,500,000) 

     
Balance at 30 June 2024 15,000,000 - 49,233,017 64,233,017 
 
 
 
        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 
 
 

 Note  2024 2023 
     
Cash flows from operating activities     
     
Receipts from customers  $ 183,969,726 168,486,890 
Payments to suppliers and employees   (160,320,761)  (149,476,200) 
     
Cash generated from operations   23,648,965 19,010,690 
     
Interest paid    (1,149,656) (853,693) 
Payments to tax authorities    (2,395,707) (1,459,969) 
Income tax paid   (2,233,075) (667,329) 
     
Net cash from operating activities   17,870,527 16,029,699 
     
Cash flows from investing activities     
     

Payment for property, plant and equipment and 
investment properties   (14,993,775) (3,705,926) 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment   - 28,225 
Proceeds from sale of other investment   - 75,000 
Proceeds from advances    100,000 - 
Net cash used in investing activities    (14,893,775) (3,602,701) 
     
Cash flows from financing activities     
     
Other costs of finance paid   (448,288) (378,376) 
Proceeds from borrowings   10,280,000 540,142 
Repayment of borrowings   (4,482,420) (5,046,214) 
Payment for lease liability   (1,198,927) (702,622) 
Dividends paid   (10,500,000) (7,050,000) 
     

Net cash used in financing activities    (6,349,635) (12,637,070) 
     

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   (3,372,883) (210,072) 
     

Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning of the 
financial year (Net overdraft)   (1,551,059) (1,340,987) 
     

Cash and cash equivalent at the end of the financial 
year (Net overdraft) 

25(a) 
$ (4,923,942) (1,551,059) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 
 
NOTE 1. GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
a) Corporate Information 
RB Patel Group Limited (the Company) is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in 
Fiji. The Company is listed on the South Pacific Stock Exchange. The address of its registered office 
and principal place of business is located at RB Patel CentrePoint Building, Ratu Dovi Road, Laucala 
Beach Estate, Nasinu.  
 
b) Principal Activities 
The principal activities of the Company during the year were that of retailing and wholesaling of general 
merchandise and owners and administrators of properties. The Company operates twelve supermarket 
stores throughout the country. 
 
There were no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year. 
 
c) Change in income tax rate 
In accordance with Income Tax (Rates of Tax and Levies) (Amendment) Regulations 2023, commencing 
from financial year ended 30 June 2024 (tax year 2023), the Company is subject to corporate tax at 
the rate of 25%. Accordingly, the previous corporate income tax rate of 10% has increased to 25% from 
the financial year ended 30 June 2024 (tax year 2023). 
 
NOTE 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 
a) Material accounting policy information 

The Company adopted Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice 
Statement 2) from 1 July 2023. Although the amendments did not result in any changes to the 
accounting policies themselves, they impacted the accounting policy information disclosed in the 
financial statements. The amendments requires the disclosure of ‘material’, rather than ‘significant’, 
accounting policies. The amendments also provide guidance on the application of materiality to 
disclosure of accounting policies, assisting entities to provide useful, entity-specific accounting policy 
information that users need to understand other information in the financial statements. Management 
reviewed the accounting policies and determined that no updates to the information disclosed in Note 
3 Summary of material accounting policies (2023: Summary of significant accounting policies) was 
required. 

 
b) Basis of Preparation 

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis, except for the following 
items, which are measured on an alternative basis at each reporting date. 

Items      Measurement bases 
Investment properties   Fair value 
 
c) Statement of Compliance 
 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (‘IFRS’) as adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board and the requirements 
of Companies Act 2015.    
 

d) New standards, interpretations and amendments not yet effective  
 

A number of new and amended standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 July 2024 
and earlier application is permitted; however, the Company has not early adopted the new or amended 
standards in preparing these financial statements.The following new and amended standards and 
interpretations are not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT’D]  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 
 
NOTE 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT’D) 
 
d)  New standards, interpretations and amendments not yet effective (cont’d) 

 
• Non-current Liabilities with Covenants – Amendments to IAS 1 and Classification of Liabilities as 

Current or Non-current – Amendments to IAS 1 
• Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to IFRS 16) 
• Supplier Finance Arrangements – Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 
• Lack of Exchangeability – Amendments to IAS 21  
 
NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The principal accounting policies adopted by the Company are stated to assist in a general 
understanding of these financial statements. The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those 
of the previous year except as stated otherwise. 
 

(a) Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. 
 

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the item. In the event that 
settlement of all or part of the purchase consideration is deferred, cost is determined by discounting 
the amounts payable in the future to their present value as at the date of acquisition. 
 

Depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment, including buildings and leasehold land but 
excluding freehold land. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis so as to write off the net 
cost or other revalued amount of each asset over its expected useful life to its estimated residual 
value. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the period of the lease or estimated useful life, 
whichever is the shorter, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values 
and depreciation method is reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period.  
 
Freehold land is not depreciated. Other property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-
line basis over its estimated useful life using the following rates: 

 Leasehold lands      Terms of leases     
 Buildings       1.25% - 2.50% 
 Furniture, fittings and office equipment   5% - 20% 
 Motor vehicles       5% - 20% 
 

Buildings on leasehold land are depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful 
lives or the remaining period of the lease whichever is shorter. 
 

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated 
with the expenditure will flow to the Company. 
 

Capital work in progress principally relates to costs incurred in respect of property construction. Capital 
work in progress is not depreciated. 
 
(b) Investment Properties 
 
Investment properties principally, comprising freehold land, leasehold land and building, are held 
either to earn rental income, or for capital appreciation or for both, are measured initially at its cost 
including transaction costs.  
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated in the statement of financial 
position at fair value, determined by external independent valuers who have appropriate recognised 
professional qualification and recent experience in the location and category of property being 
valued. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT’D]  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 
 
NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 
 
(b) Investment Properties (cont’d) 
 
Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the profit or loss during the 
financial period in which they are incurred. When the use of a property changes from investment 
property to owner-occupied, the property is reclassified to property, plant and equipment and its fair 
value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting. 
Changes in fair values are recorded in the profit or loss. Any gain or loss on disposal of investment 
property (calculated as the difference between the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount 
of the item) is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
(c) Impairment of Non – Financial Assets 

 
At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets 
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any 
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the 
extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of 
an individual asset, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to 
which the asset belongs.  
 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested 
for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.  
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 
 
If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
An impairment loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant 
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation 
decrease. 
 
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating 
unit is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment 
loss been recognised for the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognized immediately in the statement of profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at 
a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation 
increase. 
 
(d) Inventories 
 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs, including an appropriate 
portion of variable overhead expenses, are assigned to inventory on hand by the method most 
appropriate to each particular class of inventory and are valued at actual cost on a first in first out 
basis.  
 
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less estimated costs of completion and costs 
to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. Cost includes expenditure incurred in acquiring 
the inventories and bringing them to their existing condition and location. 
 
Provisions for inventory obsolescence are raised based on a review of inventories. Inventories  
considered obsolete or un-saleable are written off in the period in which they are identified. 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 

NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 
(e) Financial Instruments

(i) Recognition and initial measurement

Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All other 
financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Company becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial 
liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing 
component is initially measured at the transaction price. 

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial assets 

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; FVOCI – debt 
investment; FVOCI – equity investment; or FVTPL. 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company changes 
its business model for managing financial assets in which case all affected financial assets are 
reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model. 

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVTPL: 

• it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash
flows; and

• its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Company may irrevocably 
elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This election is made on an 
investment‑by‑investment basis. 

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are 
measured at FVTPL. On initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset 
that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if 
doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 

Financial assets: Reclassifications 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after 
the Company changes its business model for managing financial assets. 
Financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses  

Financial assets at amortised cost 

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The 
amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses 
and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit 
or loss. Financial assets at amortised cost includes Cash on hand and at bank, Trade and other 
receivables, Other investments and Loans to related parties. 

Equity investments at FVOCI 

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as income in profit or 
loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net 
gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT’D]  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 
 
NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 
 

(e)   Financial Instruments (Cont’d)  
  
(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (cont’d) 
 
Financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses 
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is 
classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held‑for‑trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as such 
on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, 
including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and 
foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is 
also recognised in profit or loss. 
 

(iii) Derecognition 
 

Financial assets 
 

The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction 
in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred 
or in which the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.   
 

Financial liabilities 
 

The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or 
cancelled, or expire. The Company also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified 
and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial 
liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. 
 

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and 
the consideration paid (including any non‑cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised 
in profit or loss. 
 

(iv) Modifications of financial assets  
 

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, the Company evaluates whether the cash flows of the 
modified asset are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the 
contractual rights to cash flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this 
case, the original financial asset is derecognised (see (3(e)(ii)) and a new financial asset is recognised 
at fair value.  
 

If the cash flows of the modified asset carried at amortised cost are not substantially different, then 
the modification does not result in derecognition of the financial asset. In this case, the Company 
recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset and recognises the amount arising from 
adjusting the gross carrying amount as a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. If such a modification 
is carried out because of financial difficulties of the borrower (see (3(f)),then the gain or loss is 
presented together with impairment losses. In other cases, it is presented as interest income (see 
3(u)). 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT’D]  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 
 
NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)  
 
 

(e) Financial Instruments (Cont’d) 
 

(v) Offsetting 
 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of 
financial position when, and only when, the Company currently has a legally enforceable right to set 
off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously. 
 

(e) Impairment of Financial Instruments 
 

The Company recognises loss allowances for ECLs on financial assets measured at amortised cost. 
No impairment loss is recognised on equity investment. 
 

The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, 
which are measured as 12‑month ECL: 
 

• debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and 
 

other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default 
occurring over the expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly 
since initial recognition. 

 

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. 
 

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition and when estimating ECL, the Company considers reasonable and supportable information 
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and 
qualitative information and analysis, based on the Company’s historical experience and informed credit 
assessment and including forward‑looking information. 
 

The Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more 
than 30 days past due. 
 
The Company considers a financial asset to be in default when:  
 

• the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Company in full, without recourse by 
the Company to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or 

• the financial asset is more than 90 days past due. 
 
Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a 
financial instrument. 
 
12‑month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 
months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 
12 months). 
 
The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which 
the Company is exposed to credit risk. 
 
Measurement of ECLs 
 

ECLs are a probability‑weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows: 
 

• financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash 
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the 
contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive); and 

• financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the 
gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows. 

 

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT’D]  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 
 
NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)  
 

(f) Impairment of Financial Instruments (cont’d) 
 
Credit-impaired financial assets 
 
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are 
credit‑impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit‑impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 
 
Evidence that a financial asset is credit‑impaired includes the following observable data: 
 
• significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 
• a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due; 
• the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Company on terms that the Company would not 

consider otherwise; 
• it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or 
• the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties. 
 
Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position 
 
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying 
amount of the asset. 
 
Write-off 
 
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent 
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Company determines 
that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to 
repay the amounts subject to the write‑off. However, financial assets that are written off could still 
be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Company’s procedures for recovery 
of amounts due. 
 
(f) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash at banks and on hand. For the purpose of statement of 
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of 
bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within interest bearing borrowings in current liabilities in 
the statement of financial position. 
 
(g) Borrowings  
 
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) 
and the redemption value is recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the period of the 
borrowings using the effective interest method. 
 
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance date. 
 
(h) Trade and Other Payables 
 
Trade and other payables are recognised when the Company becomes obliged to make future payments 
resulting from the purchase of goods and services.  
 
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT’D]  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 
 
NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 
 
(i) Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that the Company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present 
obligation, it’s carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows. 
 
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered 
from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that recovery will 
be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 
 
(j) Employee Benefits 
 
Wages and salaries  
 
Liabilities for wages and salaries expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are 
accrued up to the reporting date.  
 
Annual leave and sick leave 
 
The liability for annual leave is recognized in the provision for employee benefits. Liabilities for annual 
leave are expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date and are measured at their 
nominal values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.  
 
Liabilities for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and measured at the 
rates prevailing at that time.  
 
Defined contribution plans 
 
Contributions to Fiji National Provident Fund are expensed when incurred. 
 
(k) Share Capital  
 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 
 

(l) Income Tax 
 

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 
 

Current Tax 
 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance date. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with 
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations is subject to interpretation and establishes 
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.  
 
Deferred Tax 
 

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary 
differences arising from differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the 
financial statements and the corresponding tax base of those items. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT’D]  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 
 
NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 
 
(m) Income Tax (Cont’d) 
 
Deferred Tax (Cont’d) 
 

In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax 
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable amounts will be available 
against which deductible temporary differences or unused tax losses and tax offsets can be utilised. 
However, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences giving rise 
to them arise from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities (other than as a result of a business 
combination) which affects neither taxable income nor accounting profit.  
 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 
periods when the asset and liability giving rise to them are realised or settled, based on tax rates and 
tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by reporting date. The measurement of 
deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in 
which the Company expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its 
assets and liabilities. 
 

Current and Deferred Tax for the year 
 

Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in the statement of profit or loss, 
except when it relates to items credited or debited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax 
is also recognised directly in equity. 
 

Capital Gains Tax  
 

Capital Gains Tax (CGT) is applicable on capital gains realised on disposal of certain ‘non-depreciable 
capital assets’ as set out in the Income Tax Act. Accordingly, where these capital assets are stated at 
fair value, a corresponding deferred tax liability is recognised on surplus / gain on valuation of non-
depreciable capital assets at the rate of 10%. 
 
(m)  Value Added Tax 
 

Revenues, expenses, liabilities and assets are recognised net of the amount of Value Added Tax 
(VAT), except: 
 
i) where the amount of VAT incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is 
 recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or 
 
ii) for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of VAT. 
 

The amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables. 
 

The VAT component of cash flows arising from operating and investing activities which is recoverable 
from or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows. 
 
(n)  Foreign Currency 
 
Functional and Presentation Currency  
 

The Company operates in Fiji and hence the financial statements are presented in Fiji dollars, which 
is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest 
dollar, unless otherwise indicated. 
 

Transactions and Balances 
 

All foreign currency transactions during the financial year are brought to account using the exchange 
rate in effect at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items at reporting date are 
translated at the exchange rate existing at reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities carried 
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the 
date when the fair value was determined. Exchange differences are recognised in the statement of 
profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT’D]  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 
 
NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 
 
(o) Leases 
 
At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract 
is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control 
the use of an identified asset, the Company assesses whether: 
 
• the contract involves the use of an identified asset – this may be specified explicitly or implicitly, 

and should be physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity of a physically 
distinct asset. If the supplier has a substantive substitution right, then the asset is not identified; 
 

the Company has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of 
the asset throughout the period of use; and 

 
the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset. The Company has this right when it 
has the decision-making rights that are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose 
the asset is used. In rare cases where the decision about how and for what purpose the asset 
is used is predetermined, the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset if either: 

 
- the Company has the right to operate the asset; or 

 
the Company designed the asset in a way that predetermines how and for what purpose it 
will be used. 
 

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the Company allocates 
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone 
prices. However, for the leases of land and buildings in which it is a lessee, the Company has elected 
not to separate non-lease components and account for the lease and non-lease components as a single 
lease component. 
 
Policy applicable as a lessee 
 
The Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. 
The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease 
liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial 
direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to 
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.  
 
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of 
the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as 
those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by 
impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 
 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 
the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot 
be readily determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Company uses its 
incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT’D]  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 
 
NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 
 
(p)  Leases (Cont’d) 
 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 
 
• fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; 

 
• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or 

rate as at the commencement date; 
 
• amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and 
 
• the exercise price under a purchase option that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise, 

lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise an 
extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Company is reasonably 
certain not to terminate early. 

 
The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured 
when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is 
a change in the Company’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value 
guarantee, or if the Company changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension 
or termination option.   

 
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying 
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero. 
 
The Company presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in 
‘property, plant and equipment’ and lease liabilities in the statement of financial position (refer note 
15). 
 
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
 
The Company has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases 
that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. The Company recognises 
the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. 
 
Assets held under other leases were classified as operating leases and were not recognised in the 
Company and the Company’s statement of financial position. Payments made under operating leases 
were recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives 
received were recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease. 
 
Policy applicable as a lessor 
 
When the Company acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance 
lease or an operating lease.  
 
To classify each lease, the Company makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers 
substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the 
case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, 
the Company considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the 
economic life of the asset. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT’D]  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 
 
NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 
 
(p) Leases (Cont’d) 
 
Policy applicable as a lessor (Cont’d) 
 
When the Company is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the 
sub-lease separately. It assesses the lease classification of a sub-lease with reference to the right-of-
use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset. If a head lease is a 
short-term lease to which the Company applies the exemption described above, then it classifies the 
sub-lease as an operating lease. 
 
If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, the Company applies IFRS 15 to allocate 
the consideration in the contract. 
 
The Company recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term as part of ‘other income’. 

  
(p) Revenue  
 
(i) Material accounting policy  
Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and excludes 
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Company recognises revenue when it transfers control 
over a product or service to a customer.     
 
(ii) Nature of goods and services 
The following is a description of the principal activities from which the Company generates its revenue. 
 
Sale of Goods 
 
The Company generates revenue from the retailing and wholesaling of general merchandise. Revenue 
is recognised at a point in time when possession of the goods has transferred to the customer. This is 
generally when the goods are delivered to the customer. However, for export sales, control might also 
be transferred when delivered either to the port of departure or port of arrival, depending on the 
specific terms of the contract with a customer. There is limited judgement needed in identifying the 
point control passes: once physical delivery of the products to the agreed location has occurred, the 
Company no longer has physical possession, usually will have a present right to payment (as a single 
payment on delivery) and retains none of the significant risks and rewards of the goods in question.  
 
Invoices are generated at the point in time when possession of the goods has transferred to the 
customer. Invoices are usually payable at that point in time or within 30 days. 
 
(q) Borrowing Costs 
 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use 
of sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for 
their intended use or sale.  
 
All other borrowing costs are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the period in which they 
are incurred. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT’D]  
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NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 
 
(r) Earnings Per Share 
 
Basic earnings per share 

 
Basic earnings per share (EPS) is determined by dividing profit after income tax attributable to 
members of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
year. 
 
Diluted earnings per share 
 
Diluted EPS is the same as the basic EPS as there are no ordinary shares which are considered dilutive. 
 
(s) Dividend Distribution 
 
Dividend declared but not distributed is recognised as a liability in the Company’s financial statements 
in the period in which the dividend is declared by the Company’s directors. 
 
(t) Finance Income and Finance Costs 
 
The Company’s finance income and finance costs include: 
 

• interest income on advances; 
• bank and loan administration charges; 
• Interest expense on borrowings; 
• impairment losses (and reversals) on investments in debt securities carried at amortised cost; and 
• Interest expense on lease liabilities. 

 
Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method. The ‘effective interest 
rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the 
expected life of the financial instrument to: 
 
• the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or 
• the amortised cost of the financial liability. 

 
In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying 
amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit‑impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability. 
However, for financial assets that have become credit‑impaired subsequent to initial recognition, 
interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the 
financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit‑impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts 
to the gross basis. 
  



RB PATEL GROUP LIMITED Page 29 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT’D]  
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NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)  
 
(u) Fair value measurement 
 
‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its 
absence, the most advantageous market to which the Company has access at that date. The fair value 
of a liability reflects its non‑performance risk. 
 
When one is available, the Company measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price 
in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or 
liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing 
basis. 
 
If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Company uses valuation techniques that 
maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The 
chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take into 
account in pricing a transaction. 
 
If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Company 
measures assets and long positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price. 
 
The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the 
transaction price – i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Company determines 
that the fair value on initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is 
evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor based on 
a valuation technique for which any unobservable inputs are judged to be insignificant in relation to 
the measurement, then the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer 
the difference between the fair value on initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, 
that difference is recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument 
but no later than when the valuation is wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction 
is closed out. 
 
NOTE 4. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
4.1 Financial risk factors 
 
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (foreign exchange risk 
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.  
 
The Company does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial 
instruments, for speculative purposes. 
 
The Company’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial 
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial performance.  
 
Risk management is carried out by executive management. Executive management identifies, 
evaluates and monitors financial risks in close co-operation with the operating units. The board provides 
policies for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange 
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and investment of excess liquidity. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT’D]  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 
 
NOTE 4. RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d) 
 
4.1 Financial risk factors (cont’d) 
 
(a) Market risk  
 
Market risk is the risk that changes in the market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest 
rate will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The 
objective of market risk management is to control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters 
while optimising the return on risk. 
 
Unfavourable changes to duty and tax regulations may expose the Company to a decline in revenues. 
To minimise this risk, the Company implements appropriate strategies to ensure that products and 
prices remain attractive. The Company operates in Fiji and changes to Governments and the policies 
they implement affect the economic situation and ultimately the revenue of the Company. To address 
this, the Company reviews its pricing and product range regularly and responds appropriately to these 
changes. 
 
(i) Foreign exchange risk  
 
The Company undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies and consequently is exposed 
to exchange rate fluctuation. Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy 
parameters. Major foreign exchange transactions relate to importation of goods for which settlement 
is based on spot rates. Foreign currency risk arises from recognised assets and liabilities that are 
denominated in a currency that is not the Company’s functional currency (refer note 3(o)). As a 
measure, the Company negotiates competitive rates with its bankers to minimise losses and maximise 
gains when foreign exchange receipts and payments become due. 
 
The carrying amount of the Company’s significant foreign currency denominated monetary liabilities 
(aggregating over $100,000) at the end of reporting period are as follows:     
 

                          Liabilities 
    2024 2023 
    $ $ 
      

US Dollar    931,979 1,079,402 
NZ Dollar    140,912 421,447 
AUD Dollar    - 178,878 
 
Changes in the exchange rate by 10% (increase and decrease) are not expected to have a significant 
impact on the profit and equity currently reflected in the Company’s financial statements. 
 
(ii) Interest rate risk  
 
The company has interest-bearing assets in the form of debt investment securities and advances to 
related entities. Generally, these are at fixed interest rates, hence, there are no uncertainties related 
to interest rate cash flows during the period of investment.  
 
The Company has significant interest-bearing borrowings. Borrowing from banks are at variable interest 
rates. This exposes the Company to interest rate risk. These risks are managed closely by the directors 
and the management within the approved policy parameters. For additional borrowings, the Company 
negotiates an appropriate interest rate with banks and other lenders with board approval and borrows 
from banks and other financial institutions which offers the overall favourable terms, including the 
interest rate. Changes in the interest rate by 1% (increase and decrease) are not expected to have a 
significant impact on the profit and equity currently reflected in the Company’s financial statements. 
 
At the reporting date the profile of the Company’s variable interest bearing financial instruments was 
as follows: 

  2024 2023 
  $ $ 
    

Borrowings   27,305,464 18,863,815 



RB PATEL GROUP LIMITED Page 31 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT’D]  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 
 
NOTE 4. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D) 
 
4.1  Financial risk factors (cont’d) 

 
(a) Market risk (cont’d) 
 
(ii) Interest rate risk (cont’d) 
 
A 100 basis points (bp) increase in interest rates at the reporting date would have decreased equity 
and the profit or loss by amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in 
particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 
2023. 

    Equity Profit or loss 
before tax  

    $ $ 
      

30 June 2024      
Variable rate instruments     273,055 273,055 
      
30 June 2023       
Variable rate instruments     188,638 188,638 
      
 
 
The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to interest rate risk as 
at 30 June 2024 and 2023 are summarized below: 
 

Financial Instruments Less than 1 year 1 year and over Total 
($) ($) ($) 

 

At 30 June 2024 
    
Financial liabilities:    
Bank overdraft 5,372,898 - 5,372,898 
Bank loans  2,513,960 19,418,606 21,932,566 
Advances 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 
    

Total financial liabilities 8,886,858 19,418,606 28,305,464 
    
 

At 30 June 2023 
    
Financial liabilities:    
Bank overdraft 2,728,827 - 2,728,827 
Bank loans  1,910,628 14,224,360  16,134,988 
Advances 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 
    

Total financial liabilities 5,639,455 14,224,350 19,863,815 
 
 
(b) Credit risk  
 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the Company. The Company has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy 
counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Company’s exposure 
and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored. Credit exposure is controlled 
by counterparty limits that are reviewed and approved by the management on a regular basis. 
 
Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across geographical areas. Ongoing 
credit evaluations are performed on the financial condition of trade receivables. 
 
The Company does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any 
company of counterparties having similar characteristics. The carrying amount of financial assets 
recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents the Company’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT’D]  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 
 
NOTE 4. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D) 
 
4.1 Financial risk factors (cont’d) 
 
(c) Credit risk (cont’d) 
 
Loans to related parties 
 
Expected credit loss assessment for loans to related parties  
 
The Company performs a qualitative assessment to measure the ECLs for related party receivables. The 
factors considered by the Company includes whether there is evidence to support that there has been 
a significant increase in credit risk, whether there any impact on time value of money, how and when 
the Company will require repayment from the related party and whether any indicators of default exist. 
 
Trade receivables 
 
Expected credit loss assessment for trade receivables  
 
The Company uses an allowance matrix to measure the ECLs of Trade receivables from individual 
customers, which comprise a large number of small balances. 
 
Loss rates are calculated using a ‘roll rate’ method based on the probability of a receivable progressing 
through successive stages of delinquency to write‑off. 
 
The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for Trade 
receivables from individual customers as at 30 June 2024 and 2023: 
 

 

Weighted-
average loss 

rate 

Gross 
carrying 
amount 

($) 

Loss 
allowance 

($) 
Credit 

impaired 
30 June 2024     
Current (not past due) 1.61% 667,995 10,743 No 
31 to 61 Days 2.49% 274,474 6,840 No 
62 to 89 Days 33.08% 107,967 35,515 No 
90 to 120 Days 79.78% 99,904 79,902 Yes 

  1,150,340 133,000  
     

 

 

Weighted-
average loss 

rate 

Gross 
carrying 
amount 

($) 

Loss 
allowance 

($) 
Credit 

impaired 
30 June 2023     
Current (not past due) - 650,552 - No 
31 to 61 Days 2.62% 270,059 7,064 No 
62 to 89 Days 22.25% 28,296 6,296 No 
90 to 120 Days 61.38% 100,419 61,640 Yes 
  1,049,326 75,000  
     

Loss rates are based on actual credit loss experience over the past two years. These rates are multiplied 
by scalar factors to reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over which the 
historic data has been collected, current conditions and the Company’s view of economic conditions 
over the expected lives of the receivables. Scalar factors are based on actual and forecast GDP. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT’D]  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 
 
NOTE 4. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D) 
 

4.1 Financial risk factors (cont’d) 
 
(b)  Credit risk (cont’d)  
 

Movements in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables  
 

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as 
follows.  

  2024 2023 
    

Balance at 1 July  $ 75,000 278,868 
Impairment loss recognised/(reversed)  58,000 (203,868) 
    
Balance at 30 June $ 133,000 75,000 

    

(c) Cash  
 

The Company held cash of $448,956 at 30 June 2024 (2023: $1,177,768). The cash are held with banks, 
which are rated B- to AA-, based on Standards and Poor’s (S&P) ratings. 
 
Impairment on cash has been measured on the 12-month expected loss basis and reflects the short 
maturities of the exposures.  
 
The Company did not recognise an impairment allowance against cash as at 30 June 2024 (2023: nil).  
 
(d) Liquidity risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations for its 
financial liabilities. Prudent and careful management of the Company’s liquidity position is essential 
in order to ensure that adequate funds are available to meet the Company’s ongoing financial 
obligations. 
 

The table below analyses the Company’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on 
the remaining period at the balance date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in 
the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.   
 

Financial Liabilities 
 

Less than 1 
year 

 

($) 

Between 1 
and 2 years 

 

($) 

Between 
3 and 5 

years  
 

($) 

Over 5 
years 

 

($) 
Total 

($) 

Carrying 
amount 

($) 
       

At 30 June 2024       
Bank loans  2,342,247 3,572,005 10,025,748 9,007,536 24,947,536 21,932,566 
Advances 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 1,000,000 
Bank overdraft 5,372,274 - - - 5,372,274 5,372,274 
Trade and other payables 14,446,821 - - - 14,446,821 14,446,821 
Lease liability 1,620,947 1,703,699 2,555,549 4,065,639 9,945,834 7,441,094 
       
At 30 June 2023       
Bank loans  2,460,000 2,460,000 7,567,066 9,955,397 22,442,463  16,134,988 
Advances 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 1,000,000 
Bank overdraft 2,728,827 - - - 2,728,827 2,728,827 
Trade and other payables 14,076,849 - - - 14,076,849 14,076,849 
Lease liability 1,156,497 1,168,497 1,747,994 3,710,865 7,783,853 5,796,307 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT’D]  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 
 
NOTE 4. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D) 
 
4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d) 
 
(d) Other Risks 
 
(i) Operational risk 
 
Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human error, and fraud to external 
events. When controls fail to perform, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal 
or regulatory implications, or lead to financial crisis. The Company cannot expect to eliminate all 
operational risk, but through a control framework and by monitoring and responding to potential risks, 
the Company is able to manage risks. Controls include effective segregation of duties, access, 
authorisation and reconciliation procedures, staff education and assessment procedures. 
 
(ii) Regulatory risk 
 
The Company’s profitability can be impacted by regulatory agencies established which govern the 
business sector in Fiji. Specifically, retail and wholesale prices of various products are regulated by 
the Fijian Competition & Consumer Commission.   
 
Also, the salaries and wages payable to workers are subject to the Wages Regulations 2017 and the 
Employment Relations Act. 
 
4.2 Capital risk management 
 
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and 
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.  
 
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends 
paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares and/or sell assets to reduce 
debt.  
 
The Company monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt 
divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including ‘current and non-current 
borrowings’ as shown in the statement of financial position) less cash. Total capital is calculated as 
‘equity’ as shown in the statement of financial position plus net debt.  
 
The gearing ratios at 30 June 2024 and 2023 were as follows: 
  2024 2023 
    
Total borrowings (note 17)   $ 28,305,464 19,863,815 
Less: Cash on hand and at bank   (448,956) (1,177,768) 
Net debt   27,856,508 18,686,047 
    
Total equity   64,233,017 62,242,322 
    
Total capital (Equity + Net debt) $ 92,089,525 80,928,369 

Gearing ratio % (Net debt / Total capital)  30% 23% 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT’D]  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 
 
NOTE 5.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (CONT’D) 
 
In application of the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors are 
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates. 
 
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate 
is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods. 
 
The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.  The estimates and assumptions 
that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year have been disclosed under the following notes to the financial 
statements:  

i. Measurement of fair values 

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses observable market data as 
far as possible. Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the 
inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows. 

 Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 

 Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs). 

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the fair 
value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the 
fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement. The 
Company recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting 
period during which the change has occurred.  

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair value is included in the following 
note: 

Note – 4 - investment properties 

    
NOTE 6. OTHER INCOME  2024 2023 

     

Rental income $ 5,833,698 4,468,319 
Change in fair value of investment properties  1,500,000 - 
Gain on disposal of equity investment  - 20,000 
Dividends – nonrelated entity  - 4,500 
Commission  1,022 1,099 
Miscellaneous income  144,837 104,732 
     
Total other income $ 7,479,557 4,598,641 
    
    
    
    

 
  



RB PATEL GROUP LIMITED Page 36 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT’D]  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 
 
NOTE 7. NET FINANCE COSTS  

 

2024 2023 
     

(a) Finance income:    
  - Interest income on deposits and advances $ (73,874) (83,759) 

    

(b) Finance costs:    
  - Bank charges  448,288 378,376 
  - Interest expense - borrowings   744,882 672,266 
  - Interest expense - lease liability  404,774 265,186 
    
Total finance costs  1,597,944 1,315,828 
 

Borrowing costs amounting to $Nil (2023: $76,972) was capitalized to investment properties (note 14).  
  

NOTE 8. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX     
     

Profit before income tax has been arrived at after charging the 
following expenses: 

 
  

     

Auditor’s remuneration for:     
- Audit fees  60,000 60,000 
- Other services  6,435 4,500 
Directors’ fees  50,000 50,000 
Management fees  7,418,725 6,905,999 
Wages & Salaries, FNPF and training levy  9,395,739 8,717,533 
 
NOTE 9. INCOME TAX 

 
  

    

(a)  Income Tax Expense     
    
The prima facie tax payable on profit is reconciled to the income tax expense as follows:  

 
Profit before income tax  16,646,193 14,430,579    
    
Prima facie tax thereon at 25% (2023: 10%)  4,161,548 1,443,058 
Tax effect of permanent differences:    
Non-deductible expenses  (9,323) 3,882 
Effect of change in tax rate  - 5,587,939 
Income tax deductions and concessions  - (121,175) 
Under/(over) provision for income tax expense in prior year   3,273 (185,594) 

    
Income tax expense attributable to profit  4,155,498 6,728,110 
 
Income tax expense comprises of: 

   

Current tax expense  3,652,464 1,110,911 
Deferred tax expense  499,761 5,802,793 
Under/(over) provision for income tax expense in prior year  3,273 (185,594) 
    

  4,155,498 6,728,110 
 
(b) Current Tax Liability    
    

Balance at the beginning of the year  (530,803) (272,815) 
Income tax paid  2,233,076 667,329 
(Under)/over provision for income tax expense in prior year  (3,273) 185,594 
Current tax expense  (3,652,464) (1,110,911) 

    
Balance at the end of the year $ (1,953,464) (530,803) 
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NOTE 9. INCOME TAX (CONT’D) 2024 2023 

$ 97,102 88,280 
26,402 26,124 
33,250 18,750 

156,754 133,154 

9,748,841 9,239,022 

5,123 5,123 

220,907 207,365 

9,974,871 9,451,510 

9,818,117 9,318,356 

(c) Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

Deferred tax assets comprise the estimated future benefit at 
future income tax rate of 25% (2023: 25%) of the following items: 

 Difference between right of use asset and lease liability 
 Provision for employee entitlements 
 Allowance for impairment loss 

Deferred tax liabilities comprise the estimated future expense at 
future income tax rate of 25% (2023: 25%) and capital gains tax 
rate of 10% (2023: 10%) of the following items: 

Difference in net carrying value of property, plant and equipment 
and investment properties for accounting and income tax purpose 
Capital gains tax (at the rate of 10%) on the fair value gain on 
equity investments  
Cyclone reserve deposit 
 

Net deferred tax liabilities 

NOTE 10 RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS 

(a) Trade and other receivables
Current

Trade receivables (a) 1,150,340 1,049,326 
Allowance for impairment loss (133,000) (75,000) 

1,017,340 974,326 

Other receivables (b) 324,693 183,674 

Total trade and other receivables 1,342,033 1,158,000 

(b) Loans and advances
 Current
Advances (d) 151,874 205,187 

Non-current 
Advances to Life Cinema Pte Limited (c) 1,735,791 1,835,791 
Allowance for impairment loss on advances to Life Cinema Pte 
Limited (1,723,691) (1,723,691) 
Advances (d) 311,903 944,219 

Total loans and advances $ 324,003 1,056,319 
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NOTE 10. RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS (CONT’D) 
a) Trade receivables principally comprise amounts outstanding for sale of merchandise goods. 

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally settled on 7 – 60 days term.
b) Other receivable includes amounts outstanding for rents and other services provided and are 

generally settled on 15 – 60 days term.
c) Advances to fellow subsidiary, Life Cinema Pte Limited (Life Cinema) amounting to $1,735,791 

(2023: $1,835,791) is not subject to interest. Based on the financial status together with the 
outlook for the foreseeable future of Life Cinema Pte Ltd, the Company has impaired advances 
of $1,723,691 (2023: $1,723,691) in prior year. Advance amounting to $12,100 (2023: $112,100) 
is deemed recoverable and is not expected to be received in the next 12 months

d) Advance of $463,777 (2023: $1,149,406) provided to tenant is for financing of the fit-
out requirements for their office in JetPoint complex in Nadi and is payable over the period of 
the tenancy. The advance is subject to fixed interest rate.

(c) Other assets
2024 2023 

Deposits $ 580,108 906,107 
Prepayments 260,621 279,318 

Total other assets 840,729 1,185,425 

NOTE 11. INVENTORIES 

Finished goods  $ 15,501,663 16,744,890 
Goods in transit 1,514,966 1,338,900 

Total inventories 17,016,629 18,083,790 

Finished goods are generally stated at cost. The value of inventories carried at net realisable values 
as at the year-end is nil. Inventories considered to be un–saleable or obsolete are either sold at 
reduced prices or disposed in the period in which they are identified as un-saleable or obsolete. In 
addition, inventories have been reduced by $nil (2023: $nil) as a result of the write down to net 
realisable value. 

NOTE 12. FINANCIAL ASSETS 

(a)  Other Investments

Current 
Cyclone reserve deposit – Merchant Finance Pte Limited (at amortised 
cost)   $ 883,628 829,459 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT’D] 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024  
 
NOTE 13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  
 

 Freehold 
land at 

deemed 
cost 

Leasehold 
land at  

deemed 
cost  

Buildings at 
deemed 

cost  
Office equipment at 

cost  
Motor vehicles at 

cost  

Capital 
work in 

progress 
 

Total 
 ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) 

Gross carrying amount        
Balance at 30 June 2022 4,895,544 1,872,797 19,331,372 10,997,931 2,062,279 5,652 39,165,575 
Additions - - 122,593 890,752 146,975 - 1,160,320 
Disposals - - - (1,025,449) (109,574) - (1,135,023) 
Balance at 30 June 2023 4,895,544 1,872,797 19,453,965 10,863,234 2,099,680 5,652 39,190,872 
Additions - - 284,619 1,544,298 79,248 28,400 1,936,565 
Disposals - - - (195,898) (67,911) - (263,809) 
Transfers from investment 
properties - - - 

- 
- 

76,393 76,393 

Balance at 30 June 2024 4,895,544 1,872,797 19,738,584 12,211,634 2,111,017 110,445 40,940,021 
        
Accumulated depreciation        
Balance at 30 June 2022 - 714,281 4,658,140 8,382,703 1,664,344 - 15,419,468 
Depreciation expense - 32,962 273,171 528,759 167,042 - 1,001,934 
Disposals - - - (1,025,449) (109,572) - (1,135,021) 
Balance at 30 June 2023 - 747,243 4,931,311 7,886,013 1,721,814 - 15,286,381 
Depreciation expense - 32,962 282,999 604,863 150,075 - 1,070,899 
Disposals - - - (189,221) (67,908) - (257,129) 
Balance at 30 June 2024 - 780,205 5,214,310 8,301,655 1,803,981 - 16,100,151 
        
Net book value        
As at 30 June 2023 4,895,544 1,125,554 14,522,654 2,977,221 377,866 5,652 23,904,491 
        
As at 30 June 2024 4,895,544 1,092,592 14,524,274 3,909,979 307,036 110,445 24,839,870 

 
  In accordance with the security arrangements for borrowings from the bank, properties have been pledged as security (refer note 17).



RB PATEL GROUP LIMITED          Page 40 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT’D] 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 
 
NOTE 14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

  Freehold 
Land 

Leasehold 
Land 

Building 
  

Work in 
Progress Total 

  ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) 
Balance at 30 June 2022 8,650,000 2,350,000 40,000,029 5,804,371 56,804,400 
Acquisitions 1,300,000 - - - 1,300,000 
Additions - - 161,882 1,083,723 1,245,605 
Transfers - - 6,811,701 (6,811,701) - 
Balance at 30 June 2023 9,950,000 2,350,000 46,973,612 76,393 59,350,005 
Acquisitions 11,614,114 1,033,695 - - 12,647,809 
Additions 7,371 - 112,315 289,715 409,401 
Change in fair value 1,980,000 (80,000) (400,000) - 1,500,000 
Transfers to property, plant and 
equipment 

- - - (76,393) (76,393) 

Balance at 30 June 2024 23,551,485 3,303,695 46,685,927 289,715 73,830,822 
 

(a) Investment Property Valuations 
Investment properties comprises of ten properties of which two are commercial properties leased to 
third parties, two are residential properties leased to third parties, and six are vacant land. Changes 
in fair values are recognised as gains or losses in profit or loss and included in ‘other income’ or 
‘operating expenses’ as appropriate. All gains or losses are unrealised. 
  
Fair value hierarchy 
The fair value of investment properties was determined by external, independent property valuers, 
having appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in the location and 
category of the property being valued. The independent valuers provide the fair value of the 
Company’s investment property annually. The fair value measurement for all of the investment 
properties has been categorised as a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs to the valuation technique 
used. There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 in 2024 and 2023. 
 
Valuation technique and significant unobservable inputs  
The following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring the fair value of investment 
property, as well as the significant unobservable inputs used. 
 

Valuation technique  Significant unobservable inputs  

Inter-relationship between key 
unobservable inputs and fair 
value measurement  

Income capitalisation: The valuation 
model considers the estimated net rental 
income from the property after allowing 
for the outgoings from management, 
ground rental, insurance, repairs and 
maintenance and other related property 
outgoings. The potential income derived 
from the property is directly related to 
the capital value. 

• Annual rental income 
• Outgoings 
• Capitalisation rate: (2024: 

7.5% - 9.0%; 2023: 7.5% - 
9.0% 
 

The estimated fair value would 
increase (decrease) if 
adjustments for: 
• annual rental income was 

higher (lower) 
• outgoing was lower (higher) 
• capitalisation rate was lower 

(higher) 

Discounted cash flows: The valuation 
model considers the present value of net 
cash flows to be generated from the 
property, taking into account the 
expected rental growth rate, vacancy 
rate and other costs not paid by tenants. 
The expected net cash flows are 
discounted using risk-adjusted discount 
rates. Among other factors, the discount 
rate 
estimation considers the quality of a 
building and its location (prime vs 
secondary), tenant credit quality and 
lease terms. 

• Expected market rental 
growth: (2024: 1% - 3%; 
2023: 2% - 3.5%). 

• Vacancy rate: (2024: 2% - 
10%; 2023: 2% - 14%) 

• Risk adjusted discount 
rate: (2024: 9%; 2023: 9%) 

• Capitalisation rate: (2024: 
8%; 2023: 8%) 

• Period of cash flows: (2024: 
10 years; 2023: 10 years)  

The estimated fair value would 
increase (decrease) if 
adjustments for: 
• expected market rental 

growth were higher (lower); 
• the vacancy rate was lower 

(higher); 
• the risk adjusted discount 

rate was lower (higher) 
• the capitalisation rate was 

lower (higher) 
• period of cash flow was 

higher (lower) 
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NOTE 14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)    
 
(b) Security Over Investment Properties 
In accordance with the security arrangements for borrowings from the bank, some of these 
investment properties have been pledged as security (refer note 17). 
  
(c) Capitalisation of Borrowing Costs 
Borrowing costs amounting to $Nil (2023: $76,972) were capitalized to investment properties during 
the year.  
 
(d) Amounts recognised in profit or loss 
During 2024, investment property rentals of $5,833,698 (2023: $4,468,319) were included in ‘Other 
income’ (see Note 6). Maintenance expense, included in ‘Operating expenses’. 
 
NOTE 15.  LEASES   2024 2023 
    

(a) As a lessee    
    

The Company leases land and building. Information about leases for which the Company is a lessee 
is presented below: 
    
Right-of-use assets    
Balance at 1 July  $ 5,443,189 4,811,798 
Additions  2,843,713 1,389,279 
Depreciation charge for the year  (1,234,216) (757,888) 
    

Balance at 30 June  7,052,686 5,443,189 
 

 
Real estate leases 
The Company leases land and buildings for its retail stores. The leases of retail stores typically run 
for a period of eleven to nineteen years. Some leases include an option to renew the lease for an 
additional period of the same duration after the end of the contract term.  
 
 
 
 
  

Lease liabilities    
Maturity analysis – contractual undiscounted cash flows    
Less than one year  1,620,947 1,156,497 
One to five years  4,259,248 2,916,491 
More than five years  4,065,639 3,710,865 
    

Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 30 June   9,945,834 7,783,853 
    
Lease liabilities included in the statement of financial 
position at 30 June     

Current  1,269,793 886,590 
Non-current  6,171,301 4,909,717 
    

  7,441,094 5,796,307 
    

Amounts recognised in profit or loss     
Interest on lease liabilities  404,774 265,186 
Amounts recognised in the statement of cash flows:    
    

Total cash outflow for leases $ 1,603,700 967,808 
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NOTE 15.  LEASES (CONT’D)    
 
Some leases provide for additional rent payments that are based on changes in local price indices.  
 
Extension options 
 

Some leases of retail stores contain extension options exercisable by the Company up to one year 
before the end of the non-cancellable contract period. Where practicable, the Company seeks to 
include extension options in new leases to provide operational flexibility. The extension options held 
are exercisable only by the Company and not by the lessors. The Company assesses at lease 
commencement whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. The Company 
reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the options if there is a significant event or 
significant change in circumstances within its control. 
 
(b) As a lessor 

 
The Company leases out its investment property. The Company has classified these leases as 
operating leases, because they do not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to 
the ownership of the assets. Note 14 sets out information about the operating leases of investment 
properties. 
 
Note 23(c) sets out a maturity analysis of lease payments, showing the undiscounted lease payments 
to be received after the reporting date. 
 
NOTE 16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES  2024 2023 
    
Trade payables  $ 9,809,598 9,921,078 
Other payables (a)  4,213,045 4,065,518 
VAT payable  413,248 79,323 
Dividends payable   10,930 10,930 

    
  14,446,821 14,076,849 

 
Trade payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and on-going costs. 
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 – 60 days term. 
 

(a) Other payables include $3,049,532 (2023: $2,850,640) of management fee payable to the 
holding company. Other creditors also include payables to contractors and sub-contractors in 
respect to the construction of buildings and capital projects.  

   
NOTE 17. INTEREST BEARING BORROWINGS    
    

Current    
Bank overdrafts  5,372,898 2,728,827 
Bank Loan – BSP Financial Group Limited (a)  - 567,771 
Bank Loan – BSP Financial Group Limited (b)  960,000 687,985 
Bank Loan – BSP Financial Group Limited (c)  60,000 - 
Bank Loan – BSP Financial Group Limited (d)  408,960 - 
Bank Loan - ANZ Banking Group Limited (e)  720,000 654,872 
Bank Loan - ANZ Banking Group Limited (f)  365,000 - 
Advance from Fiji Television Limited (g)   1,000,000 1,000,000 
Total current borrowings $ 8,886,858 5,639,455 
 
Non-Current    
Bank Loan – BSP Financial Group Limited (a)  - 2,096,235 
Bank Loan – BSP Financial Group Limited (b)  7,055,887 8,287,903 
Bank Loan – BSP Financial Group Limited (c)  4,140,000 - 
Bank Loan – BSP Financial Group Limited (d)  2,032,625 - 
Bank Loan – ANZ Banking Group Limited (e)   3,055,094 3,840,222 
Bank Loan – ANZ Banking Group Limited (f)  3,135,000 - 
Total non-current borrowings $ 19,418,606 14,224,360 
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NOTE 17. INTEREST BEARING BORROWINGS (CONT’D) 
 
Facilities available to the Company include bank overdrafts.  Financing facilities of $13,500,000 were 
available to the Company as at 30 June 2024 (2023: $13,000,000) of which $5,372,898 (2023: 
$2,728,827) was utilised.  See also note 25. 
 
Reconciliation of movement of liabilities to cash flows from financing activities 
 Borrowings 

($) 
Lease liabilities 

($) 
Total 

($) 
    

Balance at 1 July 2022 21,641,060 5,109,650 26,750,710 
    

Additions to lease liability - 1,389,279 1,389,279 
    

Changes from financing cash flows    
Repayment of borrowings (5,046,214) - (5,046,214) 
Proceeds from borrowings 540,142 - 540,142 
Payment of lease liabilities - (702,622) (702,622) 
Total changes from financing cash flows (4,506,072) (702,622) (5,208,694) 
    
Other changes – Liability related    
Interest expense 672,266 265,186 937,452 
Interest paid (672,266) (265,186) (937,452) 
Total liability related other changes  - - - 
    
Balance at 30 June 2023 17,134,988 5,796,307 22,931,295 
    

Addition to lease liability - 2,843,713 2,843,713 
    
Changes from financing cash flows    
Repayment of borrowings (4,482,422) - (4,482,422) 
Proceeds from borrowings 10,280,000 - 10,280,000 
Payment of lease liabilities - (1,198,926) (1,198,926) 
Total changes from financing cash flows 5,797,578 1,644,786 7,442,364 
    
Other changes – Liability related    
Interest expense 744,882 404,774 1,149,656 
Interest paid (744,882) (404,774) (1,149,656) 
Total liability related other changes  - - - 
    
Balance at 30 June 2024 22,932,566 7,441,094 30,373,660 
    

 
(a) The loan was taken for construction of Carpark and Retailing complex at JetPoint complex in 

Martintar, Nadi. The loan was subject to variable interest rate. Bank loan was payable at 
monthly repayments of $65,000 plus interest. The loan has been fully paid during the year. 

(b) The loan has been taken for construction of a three-level building at JetPoint complex in 
Martintar, Nadi. The loan is subject to variable interest rates. Bank loan is payable at monthly 
repayments of $80,000 plus interest. 

(c) The loan has been taken for purchase of freehold land in Nasinu. The loan is subject to 
variable interest rates. Bank loan is payable at monthly repayments of $80,000 plus interest. 

(d) The loan has been taken for purchase of freehold land in Suva. The loan is subject to variable 
interest rates. Bank loan is payable at monthly repayments of $34,080 plus interest . 

(e) The loan has been taken for construction of a two-level building at the HarbourPoint complex 
in Lami. The loan is subject to variable interest rates. Bank loan is payable at monthly 
repayments of $60,000 plus interest. 

(f) The loan has been taken to purchase freehold land in Pacific Harbour. The loan is subject to 
variable interest rates. Bank loan is payable at monthly repayments of $37,000 plus interest.  
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NOTE 17. INTEREST BEARING BORROWINGS (CONT’D) 
(g) Advance is from a fellow subsidiary company and is subject to interest at a competitive rate, 

unsecured and is repayable on demand. 
 

Particulars relating to secured borrowings: 
 
The bank overdraft facility and bank loans (together with letter of credit and guarantee facilities) 
from BSP Financial Group Limited is secured by: 
 
i) First Registered General Security Interest Agreement entered into by RB Patel Group Limited 

over all its rights, property and undertakings; of whatsoever kind and wherever situated. 
Whether present or after acquired. It includes its capital (called or uncalled and paid or unpaid 
capital).  

ii) Registered first mortgage over property (CT No. 7082) situated at Queens Road, Martintar, 
Nadi. 

iii) Registered first mortgage over property (CT No. 12085) situated at Ratu Dovi Road, Nasinu. 
 

The bank loan (together with letter of credit and guarantee facilities) from ANZ Banking Group Ltd 
is secured by: 

 
i) Registered first mortgage over the property (CT No. 39150) situated at Queens Road, Suvavou, 

Lami. 
ii) Registered first mortgage over property (CT No. 9815) situated at Queens Road, Pacific 

Harbour, Deuba. 
 

The Company did not have any defaults of principal or interest or other breaches with respect to its 
borrowings during the years ended 30 June 2023 and 2024. 
 
NOTE 18. PROVISIONS  2024 2023 
    
Employee benefits $ 62,670 104,494 
    
    
NOTE 19. DEPOSITS    
    
Deposits from tenants  470,583 460,687 
    
    

NOTE 20. SHARE CAPITAL    
    

Issued and paid up capital    
150,000,000 (2023: 150,000,000) ordinary shares   15,000,000 15,000,000 
 
Shares have no par value. Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the right to 
dividends. There has been no movement in share capital during the year. 
 
NOTE 21. DIVIDENDS PAID, DECLARED OR PROPOSED   
    
Final dividend paid – 5.0 cents per share (2023: 2.7 cents)  7,500,000 4,050,000 
Interim dividend paid – 2.0 cents per share (2023: 2.0 cents)  3,000,000 3,000,000 
    
 $ 10,500,000 7,050,000 
    

Dividends per share  7.0 cents 4.7 cents 
    

The final dividend paid relates to the year ended 30 June 2023 and the interim dividend paid relates 
to the year ended 30 June 2024. 
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NOTE 22. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share  
The calculation of earnings per share at 30 June 2024 was based on the profit attributable to 
ordinary shareholders of $12,490,695 (2023: $7,702,469) and a weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding of 150,000,000 (2023: 150,000,000), calculated as follows: 

2024 2023 
Profit after income tax attributable to members of the 

Company $ 12,490,695 7,702,469 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 150,000,000 150,000,000 

Basic and diluted earnings per share 8.3 cents 5.1 cents 

NOTE 23. COMMITMENTS 

245,401 4,980,000 

(a) Capital Expenditure Commitments

Capital expenditure commitments:

Approved by the board and committed $ 

(b) Management Fees

The management fees are payable to FHL Retailing Pte Limited (holding company), pursuant to 
Management Agreement dated 10 June 1999 and was for an initial period of 15 years effective from 
1 April 1999 with option to renew for another 15 years. Upon expiry of the initial term of the 
management agreement in April 2015, the Company renewed the management agreement for a 
further 15 years. The basis for computation of management fees has been disclosed under note 26 
(e). 

(c) Operating lease – where the Company is the lessor

The Company leases certain properties at varying terms and conditions. The future minimum lease 
payments receivable under these leases are as follows: 

Less than one year  $ 4,574,597 5,513,525 
One to two years 3,118,014 4,526,467 
Two to three years 2,200,921 2,816,292 
Three to four years 1,323,951 1,786,661 
Four to five years 757,486 1,036,211 
More than five years 3,517,220 4,999,460 

$ 15,492,189 20,678,616 

(d) Short term lease commitments

The Company has a number of leases with less than 12 months of lease term for which no right 
of use assets and liabilities have been recognised. 
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NOTE 24. CONTINGENCIES  
  2024 2023 
Contingent Liabilities    
    

Letters of credit   - 171,975 
Indemnity guarantees  298,238 278,238 
    

Total contingent liabilities  298,238 470,213 
 
 
NOTE 25. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS     
    
(a) Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents    
 
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand 
and in banks and investments in money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash 
and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is 
reconciled to the related items in the statement of financial position as follows:  
  
Cash on hand and at bank  448,956 1,177,768 
Bank overdraft  (5,372,898) (2,728,827) 

    
Total cash and cash equivalents  (4,923,942) (1,551,059) 
     

(b) Financing Facilities 
 
Fully committed bank overdraft financing facilities available to the Company at year end were as 
follows: 
 
• Bank overdraft – utilised  5,372,898 2,728,827 
• Bank overdraft – unutilised   8,127,102 10,271,173 

    
 $ 13,500,000 13,000,000 

    
 
NOTE 26. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES    
 
(a) Parent company and ultimate parent company 
   
The holding company is FHL Retailing Pte Limited, a company incorporated in Fiji. 
  
The ultimate holding company is Fijian Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Fiji and listed 
on the South Pacific Stock Exchange (SPX). 
 
(b) Directors 
 
The names of persons who were directors of the Company at any time during the year are as follows: 
  
Kamal Haer (Chairperson) (appointed 26 February 2024) 
Tevita Tuiloa (appointed 26 February 2024) 
Yogesh J Karan (resigned on 26 February 2024) 
Abilash Ram (resigned on 31 August 2023) 
Surendra K Patel 
Kavin J Rathod 
Sereana Matakibau 
Craig W Strong  
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NOTE 26. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES   (CONT’D)  
 
(c) Amounts due to and from related parties 
 
Appropriate disclosure of these amounts is contained in the respective notes to the financial 
statements. 
 
(d) Transactions with related parties 
 
Significant transactions (transaction value of over $25,000) with related parties during the year ended 
30 June 2024 and 2023 with approximate transaction values are summarized as follows: 

 
Related party Relationship Nature of transaction 2024 

($) 
2023 

($) 
     
FHL Retailing Limited Holding company Management fees 7,418,725 6,905,999 
     
Fiji Television Limited Fellow subsidiary Advertising expense 223,448 76,150 
Fiji Television Limited Fellow subsidiary Interest expense 20,053 19,998 
Merchant Finance Pte Limited Fellow subsidiary Interest received 28,332 26,381 
Merchant Finance Pte Limited Fellow subsidiary Rent received 47,150 39,150 
Marsh Pte Limited Shareholder Related Entity Gross insurance premium  526,507 - 
Life Cinema Pte Limited Fellow subsidiary  Rent income 170,000 138,000 
Life Cinema Pte Limited Fellow subsidiary Sales 246,727 237,330 
Life Cinema Pte Limited Fellow subsidiary Administrative support income 48,000 48,000 
Life Cinema Pte Limited Fellow subsidiary Repayment of advances 100,000 - 

 
(e) Management fees 
 
Management fees expense of $7,418,725 (2023: $6,905,999) was incurred for the year and was paid 
/payable to FHL Retailing Pte Limited. The management fees are payable pursuant to Management 
Agreement dated 10 June 1999. Upon expiry of the initial term of the management agreement in 
April 2015, the Company renewed the management agreement for a further 15 years. 
 
The Management Agreement provides for management fees based on turnover of the Company and 
incentive fees based on the level of profit before income tax. FHL Retailing Pte Limited has engaged 
Tui Management Consulting LP of New Zealand (a firm in which director Surendra Patel has an 
interest) for the provision of consultancy services in relation to daily operation of RB Patel Group 
Limited. 
 
(f) Key management personnel 
 
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any director 
(whether executive or otherwise) of that entity.  
 
During the year, Chief Operating Officer, Financial Controller, General Manager and Group Purchasing 
Officer were identified as key management personnel, with the greatest authority and responsibility 
for the planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company.  
 
The remuneration of the key management personnel during the year was as follows: 
 

 2024 2023 
($) ($) 

   

Salaries and other benefits 577,408 603,469 
Post-employment benefits 61,607 38,567 
 639,015 642,036 
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NOTE 26. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES   (CONT’D) 

(f) Key management personnel (cont’d)
Furthermore, management fees was paid for the management services obtained during the year
(refer note 26 (e)). FHL Retailing Pte Limited has engaged Tui Management Consulting LP of New
Zealand (a firm in which director Surendra Patel has an interest) for the provision of consultancy
services in relation to daily operation of RB Patel Group Limited.

(g) Key management personnel equity holdings

Fully paid ordinary shares of RB Patel Group Limited 

Direct interest in the share capital of the Company by the key management personnel and executive 
directors is $Nil (2023: $Nil). 

(h) Directors fees
Directors fees of $50,000 (2023: $50,000) was paid to the non-executive directors.

NOTE 27. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

A. Basis for segmentation
The Company has the following two strategic divisions, which are its reportable segments. These
divisions offer different products and services, and are managed separately because they require
different marketing strategies and operate in different regulatory requirements.

The following summary describes the operations of each reportable segment: 

Reportable segments Operations 
Supermarket   Retailing and wholesaling of general merchandise 
Property Construction and rental of investment properties 

The Company’s Chief Operating Officer reviews the internal management reports of each division at 
least monthly. 

B. Information about reportable segments
Information related to each reportable segment is set out below. Segment profit (loss) before tax is
used to measure performance because management believes that this information is the most
relevant in evaluating the results of the respective segments.

Supermarket Rental Total 
$ $ $ 

176,914,522 - 176,914,522
1,645,859 5,833,698 7,479,557 

178,560,381 5,833,698 184,394,079 

13,772,693 2,873,500 16,646,193 
73,874 - 73,874

1,136,369 461,575 1,597,944
1,070,900 1,234,215 2,305,115

58,000 - 58,000

32,216,559 73,830,822 106,047,381 
1,936,565 13,057,210 14,993,775 

2024 

External revenue 
Other income 
Segment revenue 

Segment profit before tax 
Interest income 
Interest expense 
Depreciation  
Other material non-cash items: 
Impairment losses on trade and 
other receivables recognised 

Segment non current assets 
Capital expenditure 
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NOTE 27. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D) 

B. Information about reportable segments (cont’d)

Supermarket Rental Total 
$ $ $ 

165,444,612 - 165,444,612
130,322 4,468,319 4,598,641 

165,574,934 4,468,319 170,043,253 

12,632,570 1,798,009 14,430,579 
83,759 - 83,759

633,203 682,626 1,315,828
1,001,934 757,888 1,759,822

(203,868) - (203,868)

30,403,999 59,350,005 89,754,004
1,160,320 2,545,605 3,705,925 

2023 

External revenue 
Other income 
Segment revenue 

Segment profit before tax 
Interest income 
Interest expense 
Depreciation  
Other material non-cash items: 
Impairment losses on trade and 
other receivables reversed 

Segment non current assets 
Capital expenditure 

Current assets and current and non-current liabilities cannot be reasonably allocated between 
operating segments. Accordingly, this information has not been provided under segment information. 
Non-current assets noted above under ‘Property’ are those stated as Investment Properties in Note 
14 and relate to buildings that are exclusively rented to third parties. 

NOTE 28. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE 

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which would require 
adjustment to, or disclosure in, the financial statements.  

NOTE 29. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue 
on 30 August 2024. 
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